

Journal of Advances in Biology & Biotechnology 2(4): 200-207, 2015; Article no.JABB.2015.021 ISSN: 2394-1081



SCIENCEDOMAIN international www.sciencedomain.org

Comparative Study of the Fatty Acid Profiles of Vegetable Oil Brands Consumed in Nigeria

O. B. Ajayi¹ and O. I. Malachi^{1*}

¹Biochemistry Department, Ekiti State University, Ado-Ekiti, Nigeria.

Authors' contributions

This work was carried out in collaboration between both authors. Author OBA designed the study, wrote the protocol and managed the analyses of the study. Author OIM managed the literature searches and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. Both authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Article Information

DOI: 10.9734/JABB/2015/15703 <u>Editor(s):</u> (1) Rafael A. Cañas, Department of Molecular Biology and Biochemistry, Málaga University, Spain. <u>Reviewers:</u> (1) Anonymous, Indonesia. (2) Emmanuel Ibitola Bello, The Federal University of Technology, Nigeria. Complete Peer review History: <u>http://www.sciencedomain.org/review-history.php?iid=877&id=39&aid=7825</u>

Original Research Article

Received 13th December 2014 Accepted 8th January 2015 Published 21st January 2015

ABSTRACT

Aims: Since techniques employed in refining can reduce the fatty acid nutritional value of edible oil, the fatty acid profile of most widely consumed oil brands in Nigeria were comparatively analyzed. **Study Design:** The fatty acid profile of oil samples were analyzed using gas chromatography.

Place and Duration of Study: Department of Biochemistry, Ekiti State University, Ado-Ekiti, Nigeria between June 2014 and July 2014.

Methodology: The fatty acid profile was determined as fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) by gas chromatography equipped with flame ionization detector.

Results: Lahda Soya Oil, Grand Pure Soya Oil and Turkey Vegetable Oil presented the healthiest fatty acid profile with polyunsaturated fatty acids making up about 60% of their fatty acids. Power Vegetable Oil had 40% polyunsaturated fatty acid. Mamador Vegetable Oil, Oki Vegetable Oil and Laser Olive Oil had about 20% polyunsaturated fatty acid but as high as 50% monounsaturated fatty acid. Executive Chef Soya bean Oil and Gino Refined Palm Oil had the least healthy fatty acid profile with about 40% saturated fatty acid.

Conclusion: The fatty acid profiles of the branded oils were not exactly the same with that of the alleged raw material. The difference may be due to manufacturers' infidelity or the processing

techniques employed. Executive Chef "Soya Bean" Oil presented the most obvious perturbation and the least healthy fatty acid profile while Lahda Soya Oil presented the healthiest fatty acid profile.

Keywords: Fatty acid; oil brand; Nigeria; cardiovascular disease; hypercholesterolemia.

1. INTRODUCTION

Edible oil is an essential nutrient and an important source of energy. Edible oils and fats are biological mixtures, usually of plant origin, consisting of esters derived from glycerol with chain of fatty acids [1]. The kind and proportion of the fatty acids in the triacylglycerol significantly influence both the physical and the chemical characteristics of oils and fats [2,3]. Fatty acids can be classified as saturated, mono-unsaturated (MUFA) and poly-unsaturated (PUFA) fatty acids. Furthermore, the unsaturated ones are classified into series known as omega, being ω -9 considered nonessential for humans, and the ω -3 and ω -6 as essential fatty acids, because the latter cannot be synthesized by mammals; therefore, they must be obtained from diet [4,5].

Elevated levels of serum total cholesterol, low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), serum triglycerides (TG) and reduced levels of serum high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) are risk factors for coronary heart disease (CHD) and are modulated by the content of fat in the diet. A high intake of saturated fatty acids and cholesterol in the diet may lead to hypercholesterolaemia, largely through an increase in LDL-C [6]. On the contrary, polyunsaturated fatty acids have а hypocholesterolaemic effect in human [7]. Furthermore, intake of linoleic and linolenic acids increases HDL and decreases LDH while high intake of oleic acid decreases LDL but does not affect HDL levels [8,9].

Although the World Health Organization [10] has confirmed that the consumption of palmitic acid increases risk of developing cardiovascular diseases, many Nigerian homes still prefers the use of unrefined palm oil for most of their cookings; usually because of the accustomed flavor. However, the use of refined and branded vegetable oils is increasing among Nigerian urban elites. As a result, Nigerian markets are becoming "flooded" with assorted refined vegetable oils brands from different parts of the The Food and Agriculture world [11]. Organization warned that techniques employed in refining can cause chemical changes to fatty acids and thus decreases the nutritional value of edible oils [12]. This study comparatively examines the fatty acid profile of the major brands of refined vegetable oil consumed in Nigeria.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

All the oil brands were bought from Ado-Ekiti urban market. The manufacturers of the oil brands are presented in Table 1.

Oil brands	Producers
Executive chef soya	JOF Industries
bean oil	Limited
Mamador vegetable oil	PZ Wilmar Limited
Oki vegetable oil	Oki Food Industries
Laser olive oil	Sun Mark Limited
Power vegetable oil	Dufil Prima Foods
-	Plc
Gino refined palm oil	Watanmal Group
Turkey vegetable oil	Ngo Chew Hong
	Edible Oil PTE Ltd.
Grand pure soya oil	UAC of Nigeria Plc

Table 1. Producer of the oil brands analyzed

2.1 Preparation of Fatty Acid Methyl Ester (FAME)

The fatty acid profile was determined as fatty (FAMEs) esters by acid methyl gas chromatography equipped with flame ionization detector. 50 mg of the extracted fat content of the sample was saponified (esterified) for five (5) minutes at 95°C with 3.4ml of the 0.5 M KOH in dry methanol. The mixture was neutralized by using 0.7 M HCI. 3ml of the 14% boron triflouride in methanol was added. The mixture was heated for 5 minutes at the temperature of 90°C to achieve complete methylation process. The fatty acid methyl esters were thrice extracted from the mixture with redistilled hexane. The content was concentrated to 1 ml for gas chromatography analysis and IµI was injected into the injection port of gas chromatography.

Sample was introduced by split injection in split mode (ratio 20:1). The initial oven temperature

was at 60°C for 20 mins at 120 C/min and then second. Ramping at 150 C/min for 3 minute while the carrier gas used wa

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

As shown in Table 2, all the oil brand presented lower percentage (w/w) saturated fatty acids compared to unsaturated fatty acids. Laser Olive oil presented the lowest and Gino refined palm oil, the highest percentages of saturated fatty acids. While the high saturated fatty acid content of Gino refined palm oil is in accordance with what is expected of palm oil [6,13]. Executive Chef "Soya Bean" oil presented a saturated fatty acid composition much higher than the reports for Soya bean oil [6,14,15]. Since the 1950s, it has been commonly believed that consumption of foods containing low amounts of saturated potentially healthier for fatty acids is cardiovascular health than consuming fats with a high proportion of saturated fatty acids [16]. However, a 2010 meta-analysis of 21 studies [17] concluded that there is no significant proof for concluding that dietary saturated fat is associated with an increased risk of coronary heart Disease (CHD) or cardiovascular disease (CVD). Also, Chowdhury and co workers [18] in a systematic review and meta-analysis concluded that their findings do not support the reduction of the consumption of total saturated fatty acids as a cardiovascular guideline. Nevertheless, Willett and co-workers [19] warns that the conclusions from these studies are "seriously misleading" and concluded that the replacement of saturated fat with polyunsaturated fat or monounsaturated fat reduced risk of CVD. Furthermore, leading hearthealth, medical, and governmental authorities, such as the World Health Organization [20], the American Dietetic Association [21], Dietitians of Canada [21], Health Canada [22], the US Department of Health and Human services [23], the UK Food Standards Agency [24], the Australian Department of Health and Aging [25], the Singapore Government Health Promotion Board [26], the Indian Government Citizens Health portal [27], the New Zealand Ministry of Health [28], the Food and Drugs Board of Ghana [29], the Republic of Guyana Ministry of Health [30], Hong Kong's Centre for Food safety [31], the British Dietetic Association [32], American Heart Association Nutrition Committee [33], the British Heart Foundation [34], the World Heart Federation [35], the British National Health Service [36], the United States Food and Drug Administration [37], the and the European Food

Safety Authority [38] advise that saturated fat is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease (CVD).

The saturated fatty acid composition of the oil brands are presented in Fig. 1. Palmitic acid, being the most common saturated fatty acid in plants, animal and micro-organism [39]. presented the highest concentrations amongst other saturated fatty acids in all the oil brands. Executive Chef "Soya bean" oil presented a conspicuously high palmitic acid concentration, much higher than the reports for soybean oil [6,14,15]. Although palmitic acid has been found to comprise 21-30% (molar) of human adipose tissue fat [40], consumption of palmitic acid increases risk of developing cardiovascular diseases [10]. Furthermore, rats fed a diet of 20% palmitic acid and 80% carbohydrate for extended periods showed alterations in central nervous system control of insulin secretion and suppression of the body's natural appetitesuppressing signals from leptin and insulin [41].

As shown in Fig. 1, the most concentrated saturated fatty acid following palmitic acid in all the oil brands is stearic acid. This is consistent with the distribution of saturated fatty acid in nature [39]. Stearic acid, in epidemiologic and clinical studies, was found to be associated with lowered LDL cholesterol in comparison with other saturated fatty acids [42]. Also, an isotope labeling study in humans [43] concluded that the fraction of dietary stearic acid that oxidatively desaturates to oleic acid is 2.4 times higher than the fraction of palmitic acid analogously converted to palmitoleic acid. These findings may indicate that stearic acid is healthier than other saturated fatty acids. Comparing across the oil brand samples, it is noteworthy that Grand "Pure Soya" oil presented the highest and Executive Chef "Soya bean" oil presented the least stearic acid concentrations relative to their palmitic acid concentrations.

Other saturated fatty acids that were present but in much lower concentrations in all the oil brands were myristic, arachidic and behenic acids. All of which are less common saturated fatty acids in nature [39]. Margaric acid was present but in trace amount in Lahda Soya oil, Power Vegetable oil, Gino refined palm oil, Turkey vegetable oil and Grand pure soya oil while lauric acid was present in Power Vegetable oil, Gino refined palm oil, Turkey vegetable oil and Grand pure soya oil, also in a very low concentration. Although both Behenic and Lauric acids increase total serum cholesterol in human [44], most of the increase due to Lauric acid is attributable to an increase in HDL. As a result, lauric acid has been characterized as having "a more favorable effect on total HDL cholesterol than any other fatty acid, either saturated or unsaturated" [45]. Nonetheless, Mensink and co workers [45] in their extensive meta-analysis on foods affecting the total/ LDL serum cholesterol ratio concluded that the net effects of lauric acid on CHD outcomes remain uncertain.

As presented in Fig. 2, all the oil brands but Lahda Soya oil, Power Vegetable oil, Turkey vegetable oil and Grand pure soya oil have the mono unsaturated fatty acid; oleic acid as the most concentrated fatty acid. Monounsaturated fat consumption has been associated with decreased LDL [46]. Oleic acid may hinder the progression of adrenoleukodystrophy [47] and may be responsible for the hypotensive effects of olive oil [48]. As expected of olive oil [49], Laser Olive Oil presented the highest percentage of Oleic acid; having 64% of its fatty acid content made up of oleic acid.

Another monounsaturated fatty acid that is present but in a very small amount in all the all brands is palmitoleic acid which has been discovered to improve cell sensitivity to insulin and blocks fat accumulation in the liver as well as inhibits the destruction of insulin-secreting pancreatic beta cells [50,51]. Furthermore, research has indicated that palmitoleic acid could have a role as a signaling molecule affecting body weight [52], a finding consistent with previous observations that palmitoleic acid, among other fatty acids available in the diet, may be used by enzymes affecting fat oxidation [53]. As a consequence, oil types manufactured with high palmitoleic acid content may have a role in addressing obesity.

Table 2. The content of SFA, MUFA, PUFA (% w/w) of vegetable oil brands consumed in Nigeria

	SFA (%)	MUFA (%)	PUFA (%)
Executive chef soya bean oil	40.55	41.26	18.19
Mamador vegetable oil	26.86	50.41	22.73
Oki vegetable oil	15.71	59.82	24.48
Laser olive oil	8.95	64.59	26.43
Lahda soya oil	15.87	23.11	61.01
Power vegetable oil	30.23	29.40	40.36
Gino refined palm oil	46.51	40.92	13.03
Turkey vegetable oil	20.10	21.35	58.54
Grand pure sova oil	21.09	16.06	62.87

SFA – saturated fatty acid, MUFA – mono unsaturated fatty acid, PUFA – poly unsaturated fatty acid



Fig. 1. Saturated fatty acid composition of vegetable oil brands consumed in Nigeria (%w/w)

Ajayi and Malachi; JABB, 2(4): 200-207, 2015; Article no.JABB.2015.021



Fig. 2. Unsaturated fatty acid composition of vegetable oil brands consumed in Nigeria (%w/w)

The polyunsaturated Omega-6 fatty acid; linoleic acid is present in a significantly high amount in all the oil brands. Polyunsaturated fatty acids have been greatly appreciated for reducing the risks of CHD and CVD [19,54]. Linoleic acid is an essential fatty acid that must be consumed for proper health. A diet deficient in linoleic acid caused mild skin scaling, hair loss [55] and poor wound healing in rats [56]. Lahda soya oil however presented the highest and Executive Chef Soya bean oil, the lowest linoleic acid concentrations.

All the oil brands but Executive Soya bean oil and Mamador Vegetable oil contained a considerably high amount of the omega-3 fatty acid, linolenic acid. There is some evidence the linolenic acid consumption might have a preventative effect against cardiovascular diseases [57]. Executive Chef Soya bean oil and Mamador Vegetable oil also contained linoleic acid but at a very low concentration. Although at a very low concentration, arachidonic acid was present in all the brands but Gino refined palm oil and Turkey vegetable oil.

4. CONCLUSION

The result showed differences between the fatty acid profile of some of the branded oils and the alleged raw materials. These perturbations may not necessarily be due to manufacturers' infidelity but may be due to the processing techniques employed. Comparing in terms of the risk of CVD, Lahda Soya oil presented the healthiest fatty acid profile, followed closely by Turkey, then Laser Olive oil and Oki vegetable

oil. Executive Chef Soya oil however presented the least healthy fatty acid profile.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

REFERENCES

- Eqbql MAD, Halimah AS, Abdulah MK, Zalifah MK. Fatty acid composition of four different vegetable oils (Red palm olein, corn oil and coconut oil) by gas chromatography. IPCBE. 2011;14:31-34.
- 2. St. Angelo AJ. Lipid oxidation in foods. Critical review in food science and Nutrition. 1996;36(3):175-224.
- Senanayake SPJN, Shahidi F. Structured lipids: Acydolysis of gamma-linolenic acid rich-oils with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. J food lipids 2002;4:309-323.
- Assiesa J, Loka A, Bocktinga CL, Weverlingb GJ, Lieversec R, Visserd I, et al. Fatty acids and homocysteine levels in patients with recurrent depression: An explorative pilot study. Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids. 2004;(70):349-356.
- Ristic V, Ristic G. Role and importance of dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids in the prevention and therapy of atherosclerosis. Med. Pregled. 2003;56(1-2):50-53.
- Chowdhury K, Banu LA, Khan S, Latif A. Studies on the fatty acid composition of edible oil. Bangladesh J. Sci. Ind. Res. 2007;42(3):311-316.

- Sundram K. Review Nutritional Properties of palm oil and its products. In: Oil palm plantation management course. Malaysia: MPOB. 2003;364.
- Lawton CL, Delargy HJ, Brockman J, Simith RC, Blundell JE. The degree of saturation of fatty acids influences postingestive satiety. British Journal of Nutrition. 2000;83(5):473-482.
- Przybylski R, Mcdonald BE. Development and processing of vegetable oils for human nutrition. Illinois: The Oil Press/AOCS; 1995.
- 10. WHO Technical Report Series 916 Diet, Nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases, report of a joint WHO/FAO expert consultation, World Health Organization, Geneva, (Table 10). 2003;88.
- Okpuzor J, Okochi VI, Ogbunugafor HA, Ogbonnia S, Fagbayi T, Obidiegwu C. Estimation of Cholesterol levels in different brands of vegetable oil. Pakistan Journal of Nutrition. 2009;8:57-62.
- 12. Food and Agriculture Organization Fats and oils in human nutrition. Chapter 5: Processing and refining edible oils; 1994. ISBN 92-5-103621-7.
- Ekpa OD, Fubara EP, Morah FNI. Variation in the fatty acid composition of palm oil from two varieties of oil palm (*Elaesis guineensis*). J. Sci. Food Agric., 2006;64:483-486. DOI:10.1002/jsfa.2740640414.
- 14. U.S. Department of Agriculture. Agricultural Research Service. USDA National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference, Release 27; 2007. Available:<u>http://www.ars.usda.gov/ba/bhnr</u> <u>c/ndl</u>
- Vesna K, Shaban M, Biljana B. Fatty acid composition of edible oils and fats. J Hygienic Engineering & Design. 2013;4:112-116. UDC 664.3:577.115.3.
- Vartiainen E, Laatikainen T, Peltonen M, Juolevi A, Männistö S, Sundvall J, et al. Thirty-five-year trends in cardiovascular risk factors in Finland. Int J Epidemiol. 2010;39(2):504-18. DOI:10.1093/iie/dvp330.
- Siri-Tarino PW, Sun Q, Hu FB, Krauss RM. Meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies evaluating the association of saturated fat with cardiovascular disease. Amer J Clin Nutr 2010;91(3):535–546. DOI:10.3945/ajcn.2009.27725. PMC2824152. PMID 20071648.

- Chowdhury K, Warnerkula S, Kunutsor S, Crowe F, Ward HA, Johnson L, et al. Association of dietary, circulating and supplement fatty acid with coronary risk: A systemic review and meta-analysis. Ann. Intern. Med. 2014;160(6):398-406.
- 19. Willett W, Sack F, Stampfer M. Dietary fat and heart disease study is seriously misleading. Harvard School of Public Health; 2014. Accessed 01/10/2014. Available:<u>http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/nutr</u> <u>itionsource/2014/03/19/dietary-fat-andheart-disease-study-is-seriouslymisleading/</u>
- Joint WHO/FAO expert consultation. Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases (WHO technical report series 916). World Health Organization. 2003;81– 94. ISBN 92-4-120916-X.
- Kris-Etherton PM, Innis S. Position of the American Dietetic Association and dietitians of Canada: Dietary fatty acids. J Amer Dietetic Assoc. 2007;107(9):1599– 1611. [1603]. PMID 17936958.
- 22. Health Canada. Saturated and trans fats. Available: <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/label-etiquet/nutrition/cons/fats-sat-trans-graisses-eng.php</u>
- 23. US Department of Health and Human services. Dietary Guidelines for Americans; 2005.

Available:<u>http://www.health.gov/dietaryguid</u> elines/dga2005/document/html/chapter6.ht m

24. UK Food Standards Agency. "Saturated Fat".

Available:<u>http://www.eatwell.gov.uk/healthy</u> diet/fss/fats/satfat/

- 25. Australian Department of Health and Aging. Australian Dietary Guidelines and the Australian Guide to Healthy Eating. Available:<u>http://www.health.gov.au/internet</u> /healthyactive/publishing.nsf/Content/eatin g
- 26. Singapore Government Health Promotion Board. Getting the Fats Right!. Available:<u>http://www.hpb.gov.sg/foodforhe</u> <u>alth/article.aspx%3Fid%3D5634</u>
- 27. Indian Government Citizens Health portal. Citizens health knowledge centre nutrition. Available:<u>http://india.gov.in/citizen/health/n</u> <u>utrition_new.php</u>
- New Zealand Ministry of Health. New Zealand food and nutrition guideline statements for healthy adults. Available:<u>http://www.moh.govt.nz/moh.nsf/i</u>

ndexmh/nutrition-

foodandnutritionguidelinestatements

- 29. Food and Drugs Board of Ghana. Food and drugs board regulating for your safety eating healthy. Available:http://www.fdbghana.gov.gh/
- 30. Republic of Guyana Ministry of Health. Hypertension (High Blood Pressure). Available:<u>http://www.health.gov.gy/hi_hype</u> <u>rtension.php</u>
- 31. Hong Kong's Centre for Food safety. Nutrition labeling. Available:<u>http://www.cfs.gov.hk/english/faq /faq 14.html</u>
- British Dietetic Association. Trends in intake of Energy, Protein, Carbohydrate, Fat, and Saturated Fat — United States, 1971–2000. Centers for Disease Control; 2004. Available:<u>http://www.cdc.gov/od/oc/media/</u> mmwrnews/n040206.htm%23mmwr2
- Lichtenstein AH, Appel LJ, Brands M, Carnethon M, Daniels S, Franch HA, et al. Diet and lifestyle recommendations revision 2006: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association Nutrition Committee. Circulation. 2006;114(1):82– 96. DOI:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.176

DOI:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.176 158. PMID 16785338.

- 34. British Heart Foundation. "Saturated Fat". Available: <u>http://www.bhf.org.uk/heart-health/prevention/healthy-eating/saturated-fat.aspx</u>
- 35. World Heart Federation. "Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors". Available:<u>http://www.world-heart-federation.org/cardiovascular-health/cardiovascular-health/cardiovascular-disease-risk-factors</u>
- 36. British National Health Service. "Lower your cholesterol". National Health Service. Available:<u>http://www.nhs.uk/livewell/health</u> <u>yhearts/pages/cholesterol.aspx</u>
- 37. United States Food and Drug Administration. "Nutrition Facts at a Glance - Nutrients: Saturated Fat". Food and Drug Administration. 2009-12-22. Available:<u>http://www.fda.gov/Food/Labelin gNutrition/ConsumerInformation/ucm19265 8.htm</u>
- EFSA Panel on Dietetic Nutrition, and Allergies. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for fats, including saturated fatty acids, polyunsaturated fatty acids, monounsaturated fatty acids, trans fatty acids, and cholesterol. J EFSA. 2010;8(3):1461.

- Gunstone FD, John LH, Albert JD. The Lipid Handbook with Cd-Rom. 3rd ed. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2007. ISBN 0849396883. ISBN 978-0849396885.
- 40. Kingsbury KJ, Paul S, Crossley A, Morgan DM. The fatty acid composition of human depot fat. J Biochem. 1961;78:541–550. PMC 1205373.
- Benoit SC, Kemp CJ, Elias CF, Abplanalp W, Herman JP, Migrenne S, et al. Palmitic acid mediates hypothalamic insulin resistance by altering PKC-θ subcellular localization in rodents. J Clin Investigation. 2009;119(9):2577–2587.

DOI:10.1172/JCI36714. PMID 19726875.

- Hunter JE, Zhang J, Kris-Etherton PM. Cardiovascular disease risk of dietary stearic acid compared with trans, other saturated, and unsaturated fatty acids: A systematic review. Amer J Clin Nutr 2009;91(1):46–63. DOI:10.3945/ajcn.2009.27661. PMID 19939984.
- Emken EA. Metabolism of dietary stearic acid relative to other fatty acids in human subjects. Amer J Clin Nutr. 1994;60(6):1023S–1028S. PMID 7977144.
- 44. Caterm NB, Margo AD. Behenic acid is a cholesterol-raising saturated fatty acid in humans. Amer J Clin Nutr. 2001;73(1):41-44.
- Mensink RP, Zock PL, Kester ADM, Katan MB. Effects of dietary fatty acids and carbohydrates on the ratio of serum total to HDL cholesterol and on serum lipids and apolipoproteins: A meta-analysis of 60 controlled trials. Amer J Clin Nutr. 2003;77(5):1146–1155. ISSN 0002-9165. PMID 12716665.
- 46. Grundy SM. Monounsaturated Fatty Acids and Cholesterol Metabolism: Implication for Dietary Recommendations. J Nutr 1989;199:529-533.
- 47. Rizzo WB, Watkins PA, Philips MW, Cranin D, Campbell B, Avigan J. Adrenoleukodystrophy: Oleic acid lowers fibroblast saturated C22-26 fatty acids. Neurology 1986;36(3):357-361.
- Tera S, Barcelo-Coblijn G, Benet M, Alvarez R, Bressani R, Halver JE, et al. Oleic acid is responsible for the reduction in blood pressure induced by olive oil. Proceedings of the Natl Acad Sci. 2008;105(37):13811-6.
- 49. Beltran G, Rio DC, Sanchez S, Martinez L. Influence of Harvest date and crop yield on the Fatty Acid Composition of Virgin Olive

Oils from Cv. Picual. J Agric. Food Chem. 2004;52:3434-3440.

- Hodson L, Karpe F. Is there something special about palmitoleic? Current opinions in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Core. 2013;16(2):225-231. DIO:10.1097/.
- 51. Yang ZH, Miyahara H, Hatanaka A. Chronic administration of palmitoleic acid reduces insulin resistance and hepatic lipid accumulation in KK-AY Mice with genetic type 2 diabetes. Lipids Health Dis. 2011;10:120. DOI:10.1186/1476-511X-10-12. PMC 3155149. PMID 21774832.
- Haiming C, Kristin G, Jared RM, Michelle MW, Steve MW, Gökhan SH. Identification of a Lipokine, a Lipid Hormone Linking Adipose Tissue to Systemic Metabolism. Cell 2008;134(6):933–944. DOI:10.1016/j.cell.2008.07.048. PMC 2728618. PMID 18805087.
- 53. Power GW, Cake MH, Newsholme EA. The influence of diet on the activity of carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 toward a range of acyl CoA esters. Lipids. 1997;32:31-37.

- 54. Willett, Walter C. The role of dietary n-6 fatty acids in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. J Cardiov. Med. 2007;8:S42–5. DOI:10.2459/01.JCM.0000289275.72556.1 3. PMID 17876199.
- Cunnane S, Anderson M. Pure linoleate deficiency in the rat: Influence on growth, accumulation of n-6 polyunsaturates, and (1-14C) linoleate oxidation. J Lipid Res. 1997;38(4):805–12. PMID 9144095.
- 56. Ruthig DJ, Meckling-Gill KA. Both (n-3) and (n-6) fatty acids stimulate wound healing in the rat intestinal epithelial cell line, IEC-6". J Nutr. 1999;129(10):1791–8. PMID 10498749.
- 57. Pan A, Chen M, Chowdhury R, Wu JH, Sun Q, Campos H, et al. α-Linolenic acid and risk of cardiovascular disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis". Am. J. Clin. Nutr. (Systematic review) 2012;96(6):1262–73. DOI:10.3945/ajcn.112.044040. PMC: 3497923. PMID 23076616.

© 2015 Ajayi and Malachi; This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

> Peer-review history: The peer review history for this paper can be accessed here: http://www.sciencedomain.org/review-history.php?iid=877&id=39&aid=7825